# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA SUPREME COURT NO: 19-0143

HARRY LEE SMITH, JR.

PETITIONER/APPELLANT

V.

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA,

RESPONDENT/APPELLEE

### APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF MERCER COUNTY, WEST VIRGINIA

(18-F-172)

#### **BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

#### **ORAL PRESENTATION REQUESTED**

DERRICK W. LEFLER PO Box 1250 Princeton, WV 24740 Telephone: (304) 425-4484 Facsimile: (888) 540-7248

WV Bar ID: 5785

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER/APPELLANT

###

#### ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Appellant asserts the following errors as to the proceedings below:

- The Trial Court Erred in Denying Appellant's Motion to Dismiss as to the Counts in the Indictment Alleging Kidnapping upon a Defective Indictment.
- The Trial Court Erred in Assigning Mitigation Findings to the Jury.
- III. The Evidence Does Not Support the Jury's Findings as to Mitigating Factors
- IV. The Trial Court Erred in Denying Appellant's Motion in Limine Regarding Evidence of Post Event Impact of Destiny Rose.
- V, The Trial Court Erred in Failing to Conduct Appropriate Analysis Prior to Admitting Evidence pursuant to Rule 404(b) of the West Virginia Rules of Evidence.
- VI. The State Improperly Exceeded the Scope of the Trial Court's Ruling as to the Admission of 404(b) Evidence.
- VII. The Imposition of a Life Sentence Without Mercy Violates Proportionality Provisions in the West Virginia Constitution.
- VIII. The Trial Court Erred in Refusing to Instruct the Jury as to the Offense of Unlawful Restraint as a Lesser Included Offense of Kidnapping.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant seeks relief from convictions rendered against him in the Circuit Court of Mercer County on charges of Kidnapping, two counts, Wanton Endangerment, three counts and Breaking and Entering, one count.

Appellant's charges arose from an event occurring on December 4, 2017. On that date appellant appeared at the home of his girlfriend, Amy Rose, and held her and her two children at gun point in her home. The daughter, Destiny Rose, subsequently escaped the home. Defendant's girlfriend's son, Dustin Rose was also subsequently released. Defendant and Amy Rose ended up on the porch of an adjacent home where she was released after extended communications between defendant and law enforcement.<sup>1</sup>

Appellant was tried on October 23 and 24, 2018. The jury returned a verdict of guilty as to all counts. The jury did not recommend mercy as to the kidnapping charge relating to Amy Rose. The jury also made findings that Amy Rose was not released without bodily injury, and that Dustin Rose was released without bodily harm, but not without concession. (App. Vol. II, 569-576).

Following the verdict, Appellant timely filed a Motion for New Trial. The trial court subsequently denied Appellant's Motion for New Trial and sentenced him to life without mercy upon the kidnapping charge relating to Amy Rose. This sentence was

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The adjacent home was the residence of Frankie Rose, Amy Rose's husband. Amy Rose and Frankie Rose were separated but lived on the same parcel of land in different homes.

consecutive to the 20-50 year sentence upon the kidnapping charge relating to Dustin Rose. Those sentences were followed by three concurrent 5 year sentences on convictions for Wanton Endangerment to run consecutive to the kidnapping sentences, and a consecutive 1 to 10 year sentence on the charge of Breaking and Entering. (App. Vol. II, 600-602).

It is from these convictions and sentences that defendant seeks relief.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Appellant, rests his argument on those points, as set forth in the Assignments of Error section.

 The trial court erred in denying appellant's Motion to Dismiss as to the counts in the indictment alleging kidnapping upon the defective indictment.

The indictment returned against appellant charged two counts of kidnapping. In setting forth the kidnapping charges, the indictments for both counts stated the offense was committed by "unlawful feloniously holding Amy Rose/Dustin Rose against his/her will with the intent to terrorize him/her."

In charging appellant it is clear that the State intended to charge him under West Virginia Code §61-2-14a with the operative intent being the intent to "terrorize". The indictment against appellant was deficient in that it failed to allege transportation, which is a material element of the offense set forth in the statute.

Appellant raised the issue of the deficient indictment by motion prior to trial, again immediately prior to trial, and again in his Motion for New Trial. On all occasions the court denied appellant's motion and found that the indictment was sufficient to set forth the alleged offense.

#### The court erred in submitting the matter of the mitigation of Appellant's sentence to the jury.

The trial court erroneously relinquished to the jury the function of making findings as to mitigating factors as to potential sentences relating to defendant's kidnapping charge.

While under West Virginia kidnapping statute 61-2-14a the jury is provided the ability to allow a sentence of mercy to mitigate from the life sentence penalty, the statute states, "in all cases", and then goes on to outline those factors, which if found applicable, would provide for, not a life sentence, but either a 20 to 50 year sentence or a 10 to 30 year sentence. Assigning the factual findings as to such factors to a jury in the event of a trial, or to a judge in the event of a plea, create a system which would potentially yield widely divergent and inconsistent results.

Such an allocation is also inconsistent with the structure of sentencing in this state. Unlike, some other states, juries in West Virginia do not determine sentences. In fact, information as to potential sentences is kept from a jury. To assign the findings as to the factors set forth under subsections (b)(3) and (b)(4) to the jury essentially makes the jury the sentencing agent. Such a scenario appears nowhere else in the jurisprudence of this state. The jury's application of sentencing factors are limited to grants of mercy in capital cases.

In light of the foregoing, appellant submits that permitting the jury to consider and determine mitigating facts was error requiring grant of a new trial.

#### III. The evidence does not support the jury's findings as to mitigating factors.

The consideration of mitigation factors was submitted to the jury. Which was requested to consider whether either Amy Rose or Dustin Rose had been permitted to return "without bodily harm", and whether such return was after any concession or advantage of any sort had been paid or yielded.

The jury ultimately found that Amy Rose had not been returned without bodily harm and that while Dustin Rose had been returned without bodily harm, he had not been returned without a concession or advantage having been paid or yielded.

The only evidence before the jury relating to bodily harm to Amy Rose was testimony from Dustin Rose that in the course of the encounter the appellant had grabbed Amy Rose by the hair and pulled her, causing some hair loss and some bruising from appellant's grip on her arm.

Likewise, the only evidence before the jury as to Dustin Rose's release was that he had convinced the appellants to let him go so that he could perhaps find an unlocked window, and find and retrieve his father, to come to the scene.

Appellant asserts that each of these pieces of evidence as to their respective issues was insufficient to permit the jury to make a finding that disregarded these elements as potential mitigation factors, thus denying appellant the opportunity to avoid a term of imprisonment of life.

#### IV. The trial court erred in its denial of Appellant's Motion in Limine limiting testimony and evidence of post event impact from Destiny Rose.

Prior to trial, counsel for appellant filed a Motion in Limine requesting the court limit testimony and evidence of post event impact from victims. Principally the motion was directed at testimony of Destiny Rose, daughter of appellant's girlfriend, Amy Rose. Destiny Rose was not the subject of either kidnapping count, and was the subject of only a charge of wanton endangerment.

Appellant argued that any post event, or residual effect of the events of December 4, 2017 were irrelevant to the charge of wanton endangerment. While such testimony would arguably be relevant to the jury's consideration of a grant of mercy on kidnapping charges, Destiny Rose was not the subject of any kidnapping charge.

The court permitted such testimony from Destiny Rose, and she testified extensively as to her anxiety and emotional turmoil following the events. Such testimony was extraordinarily prejudicial to appellant, and materially affected the jury's consideration of mercy for appellant upon the kidnapping charges on which appellant was convicted.

#### V. The trail court erred in failing to conduct appropriate analysis prior to admitting evidence pursuant to Rule 404(b) of the West Virginia Rules of Evidence.

Prior to trial the State presented a motion to introduce evidence pursuant to Rule 404(b) the West Virginia Rules of Evidence. The court conducted a hearing upon such motion. At the hearing, the State argued only for the admission of evidence of prior confrontations between appellant and one of the alleged kidnapping victims, girlfriend, Amy Rose. The State argued that such evidence was admissible for the purpose of "refuting appellant's claim of a reaction to Cymbalta" and appellant's malicious intent.

The court granted the State's motion. However, in doing so the court did not in any fashion engage in the analysis necessary and required for the admission of 404(b) evidence. Most importantly, the court performed no balancing analysis for the admission of such evidence.

# VI. The State improperly exceeded the scope of the trial court's ruling as to the admission of 404(b) evidence.

The trial court granted the State's request for admission of 404(b) evidence relating to confrontations between appellant and Amy Rose on dates prior to the date of appellant's offenses. However, during trial, the State exceeded the court's order regarding 404(b) evidence by offering extensive testimony as to acts of vandalism, speculated to have been committed by appellant, prior to the date of the offenses charged. The State, although referencing such evidence in their initial motion, presented no evidence nor sought approval for such evidence at the hearing on its motion, and such evidence was not part of the court's ruling admitting 404(b) evidence.

In addition to the extraordinarily speculative nature of the testimony as to vandalism testimony presented, such evidence was significantly prejudicial to appellant in giving the appearance of a calculated course of conduct aimed at the State's witnesses prior to defendant's alleged offenses.

# VII. Imposition of a life sentence without mercy violates proportionality provisions of the West Virginia Constitution.

Upon his conviction for the kidnapping offense relating to Amy Rose, appellant was subject to a life sentence. The jury did not recommend mercy upon such conviction. Lacking such recommendation, appellant was sentenced to life in prison without the possibility of parole.

Appellant submits that such sentence violates the proportionality provisions of the West Virginia Constitution in that it in that such penalty is disproportionate to the conduct supporting appellant's conviction. The factor distinguishing between a sentence of life without parole, and a sentence of a significant period of years, but not a life imprisonment is as little as bruising and hair pulling. While the offense conduct in this matter was certainly serious, there were no significant physical injuries.

Furthermore, the evidence of the level of harm to the actual kidnapping victims was negligible, and in no event would support the imposition of a term of life without parole.

#### IX. The court erred in refusing to instruct the jury as to the offense of Unlawful Restraint as a lesser included offense of kidnapping.

At the time of consideration of the instructions to the jury, counsel for appellant requested the court instruct the jury as to the offense of unlawful restraint under <u>West Virginia Code</u> § 61-2-14g as a lesser included offense of kidnapping. The court declined to do so.

The offense of unlawful restraint, created by the legislature in 2011 was created for the specific purpose of recognizing, and criminalizing those instances as a lesser included offense of the offense of kidnapping. The evidence presented would have supported a finding of unlawful restraint, and the jury was entitled to consider such offense.

#### STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT IN DECISION

Appellant submits that oral argument is necessary in view of the criteria set forth in Rule 18 (a) of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure. Appellant submits pursuant to Rule 18, that the issues presented in the instant appeal, particularly those relating to the kidnapping statute have not been authoritatively decided. In addition, while facts and arguments are significantly and adequately presented in Appellant's brief, Appellant believes the decision process would be significantly aided by oral argument.

Appellant believes that the instant matter would be appropriate for oral argument pursuant to Rule 19 of the Rules of Appellate Procedure in that the matter involves assignments of error in the application of settled law which are also narrow issues of law.

Appellant further believes the case at bar would also be appropriate for oral argument under Rule 20 of the Rules of Appellate Procedure, in that the appeal presents constitutional questions regarding the rulings of the trial court.

#### ARGUMENT

#### Standard of Review

The instant appeal follows from the denial of Appellant's Motion for New Trial by the trial court below. Findings and rulings of the trial court are reviewed utilizing a two-pronged deferential standard of review. Rulings of the circuit court concerning a new trial, and its conclusion as to the existence of a reversible error are reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard, and the circuit court's underlying factual findings are reviewed under a clearly erroneous standard. Questions of law, however, are subject to a de novo review. Syl. Pt. 3, State v. Vance, 207 W.Va. 640, 535 S.Ed.2d 484 (2000).

#### The Trial Court Erred in Denying Appellant's Motion to Dismiss as to the Counts in the Indictment Alleging Kidnapping upon a Defective Indictment.

Counts one and two of the indictment charged the offense of kidnapping pursuant to West Virginia Code § 61-2-14a, by stating that appellant "committed the offense of "kidnapping" by unlawfully and feloniously holding Dustin Rose/Amy Rose at gunpoint against his/her will with the intent to terrorize him/her, against the peace and dignity of the state." (App. Vol. II, 501).

An indictment for kidnapping is sufficient if it follows the language of the statute, fully informs the particular accused of the particular offense with which he is charged, and enables the court to determine the statute on which the charge is based. Syllabus Point 3, State v. Hall, 3304 S.E.2d 43 (W.Va. 1983). However, in order to lawfully charge an accused with a particular crime it is imperative that the essential

elements of that crime be alleged in the indictment. Syl. Pt. 1, <u>State ex rel Combs v. Boles</u>, 151 S.E.2d 115 (W.Va. 1966).

The offense of kidnapping as set forth in <u>West Virginia Code</u> § 61-2-14a (a)(2), states that the offense is committed when the accused acts with a specific intent to "Transport another person with the intent to inflict bodily injury or terrorize the victim or other person." <sup>2</sup>

The kidnapping charge described in the indictment lacked the intent of transportation, and with the absence of this essential element did not substantially follow the language of the statute and was deficient.

The transportation element in the variety of kidnapping charged by the State in this matter is an essential element. The construction given by the State, and approved by the court in denying appellant's Motion to Dismiss, is contrary to the text of the statute as well as any practical application of its terms.

Under the State's construction, as set forth in the indictment, any individual appearing at a location standing in a doorway so as to restrict, egress and wielding a firearm would be guilty of kidnapping. Such an application would run serious risk of every commission of the offense of wanton endangerment being labeled a kidnapping. It cannot be imagined this was the intent of the legislature in creating the statute.

West Virginia Code § 61-2-14a reads:

<sup>(</sup>a) Any person who Any person who unlawfully takes custody of, conceals, confines or restrains another person against his or her will by means of force, threat of force, duress, fraud, deceit, inveiglement, misrepresentation or enticement with the intent:

<sup>(1)</sup> To hold another person for ransom, reward, or concession;

<sup>(2)</sup> To transport another person with the intent to inflict bodily injury or to terrorize the victim of another person; or

<sup>(3)</sup> To use another person as a shield or hostage, shall be guilty of a felony...

Clearly, transportation is not required for every variety of kidnapping. The offenses described in subsection (a)(1) & (a)(3) of § 61-2-14a clearly do not require transportation to commit the offense. However, the configuration of the statute makes clear that for those kidnappings with the specific intent to "inflict bodily injury" or "terrorize" transportation is a requisite element.

Here the State failed to include this essential element in the indictment against the appellant. As a result the jury was not instructed and did not have the opportunity to consider that essential element. See: <u>State ex rel Combs v. Boles</u>, supra.

There is no logical basis for differentiating between the intent to inflict bodily injury or the intent to terrorize as set forth in subsection (a)(2), as it relates to the transportation element of the statute. It is clear that the legislature intended to broaden the scope of the kidnapping statute with the revisions, first appearing in 2012, which added the "intent to inflict bodily injury or to terrorize" to the list of ways the offense could be committed. (App. Vol. II, 612-613). Prior to that time kidnapping was limited to those instances where an individual was held for ransom, to gain a concession or advantage, or for use as a shield or to evade arrest. (App. Vol. II, 622-623).

With the expansion, the legislature divided the kidnapping offense into three separate categories. Under Subsection (a)(1), the offense is committed by holding another for ransom, reward, or concession. Subsection (a)(2) relates to an offense with the intent to inflict bodily injury or to terrorize, and Subsection (a)(3) deals with

those situations where an individual was held for the purpose of protection or acting as a shield.

All three subsections require the action as set forth in Subsection (a) of taking custody, confining etc. by force, duress, etc. Subsection (a) ends by imposing a specific intent requirement attaching to each of those subsections that follow. The first element set forth in Subsection (a)(2) is the element of transportation. Read together Subsection (a) and (a)(2) would require proof of such action ...... "With the intent to transport another person with the intent to inflict bodily injury, or to terrorize the victim or another person".

While the legislature unfortunately provided no punctuation to guide in the interpretation of the subsection, it is clear that if the legislature had intended there to be two separate types of kidnapping described in this subsection, one with transportation as an element and one without, they would have separated them into two separate subsections as they had done with the other various ways the offense could be committed, as in subsections (a)(1) and (a)(3). Instead the clear intent of the subsection was to describe kidnapping achieved by a transportation of its victim for either of those two purposes described: to inflict bodily injury or to terrorize.

In order to secure a conviction the State must prove each and every element of the crime charged beyond a reasonable doubt. Syll. Pt. 4, State v. Hannah, 378 S.E.2d. 640 (W. Va. 1989). As a result of the indictment lacking the transportation element the State was not required to prove this element and the jury rendered a

verdict for kidnapping under subsection (a)(2) without having considered or rendered a verdict as to an essential element of that offense.

#### II. The Trial Court Erred in Assigning Mitigation Findings to the Jury.

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