## DO NOT REMOVE FROM FILE



## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

Docket No. 19-0143

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA,

Plaintiff below, Respondent,



v.

HARRY LEE SMITH, JR.,

Defendant below, Petitioner.

## RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

PATRICK MORRISEY ATTORNEY GENERAL

SCOTT E. JOHNSON
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
West Virginia State Bar No. 6335
Office of the Attorney General
812 Quarrier Street, 6th Floor
Charleston, WV 25301
Tel: (304) 558-5830

Fax: (304) 558-5833

Email: Scott.E.Johnson@wvago.gov

##

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

A.R. 162-163. Destiny testified she could not study again because every time she tried she suffered flashbacks. A.R. 208. Petitioner claims the evidence was not relevant and "extraordinarily prejudicial to [him] in the jury's consideration of the mercy component of the kidnapping charges relating to Amy Rose and Dustin Rose." Pet'r Br. at 30. Petitioner's claims should be rejected.

Petitioner's brief does not contain a single citation to authority in this Assignment of Error. This Court has noted the failure to provide authority to support an argument is a fatal defect in a brief meriting denial of review. See, e.g., In re D.R., No. 18-0496, 2018 WL 6040686, at \*5 n.3 (W. Va. Nov. 19, 2018) (memorandum decision) ("petitioner cites to no authority to support his argument and, as such, we decline to address the argument on appeal."); Allen v. Terry, No. 16-1082, 2018 WL 2194014, at \*5 (W. Va. May 14, 2018) ("Because petitioner has cited no authority to support this alleged error, we decline to address the same on appeal."); State v. Preston, No. 15-0210, 2015 WL 7628816, at \*5 (W. Va. Nov. 23, 2015) (memorandum decision) ("Having cited no authority in support of his claim of error, we also decline to address this issue on appeal.").

Alternatively, Petitioner's claim is substantively meritless. Petitioner's claim deals with the circuit court's admission of evidence. "We review the trial court's rulings on the admission of evidence under an abuse of discretion standard." *State v. Bradshaw*, 193 W. Va. 519, 536, 457 S.E.2d 456, 473 (1995).

Petitioner claims the evidence of how Petitioner's conduct affected Destiny post December 4, 2017 was not relevant and was "extraordinarily prejudicial to [him]." Pet'r Br. at 30. These claims are incorrect.

West Virginia Rule of Evidence Rule 401 provides, "[e]vidence is relevant if: (a) it has any tendency to make a fact more or less probable than it would be without the evidence; and (b) the fact is of consequence in determining the action." "Obviously, this is a liberal standard favoring a

broad policy of admissibility." *McDougal v. McCammon*, 193 W. Va. 229, 236, 455 S.E.2d 788, 795 (1995). *See also Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharm.*, *Inc.*, 509 U.S. 579, 587 (1993) ("The Rule's basic standard of relevance thus is a liberal one."). Thus, "relevance typically presents a low barrier to admissibility[.]" *United States v. Leftenant*, 341 F.3d 338, 346 (4th Cir. 2003). An appellate court will "rarely reverse relevancy decisions because they 'are fundamentally a matter of trial management[.]" *United States v. Zayyad*, 741 F.3d 452, 459 (4th Cir. 2014) (citation omitted).

Rule of Evidence 403 provides, "[t]he court may exclude relevant evidence if its probative value is substantially outweighed by a danger of one or more of the following: unfair prejudice... ... "Evidence may be excluded under Rule 403 only if the evidence is unfairly prejudicial and, even then, only if the unfair prejudice substantially outweighs the probative value of the evidence." United States v. Siegel, 536 F.3d 306, 319 (4th Cir. 2008) (emphasis in original). "Rule 403 is a rule of inclusion[.]" United States v. Udeozor, 515 F.3d 260, 264 (4th Cir. 2008). "[I]n reviewing a decision under Rule 403, the court must "look at the evidence in a light most favorable to its proponent, maximizing its probative value and minimizing its prejudicial effect." Mullen v. Princess Anne Volunteer Fire Co., 853 F.2d 1130, 1135 (4th Cir. 1988) (quoting Koloda v. General Motors Parts Division, 716 F.2d 373, 377 (6th Cir.1983)). Consequently, "Rule 403 exclusion should be invoked rarely," United States v. Cooper, 482 F.3d 658, 663 (4th Cir. 2007), and "sparingly as an 'extraordinary remedy," United States v. Williams, 49 F. App'x 420, 426 (4th Cir. 2002). Hence, "[a]s to the balancing under Rule 403, the trial court enjoys broad discretion. The Rule 403 balancing test is essentially a matter of trial conduct, and the trial court's discretion will not be overturned absent a showing of clear abuse." Syl. Pt. 10, in part, State v. Derr, 192 W.Va. 165, 451 S.E.2d 731 (1994). There was no abuse of discretion on the circuit court's part.

Here, the circuit court concluded that how Petitioner's behavior subsequently affected Destiny related to his intent to terrorize Dustin and Amy. A.R. 162-163. Petitioner engaged in holding a gun to Destiny's head, ordering her around, and threatening to kill her. This conduct terrorized Destiny as evidenced by her post-event inability to study due to flashbacks. Perforce, if Destiny was terrorized by Petitioner's conduct, then so would have been Amy and Dustin. And the jury could have drawn the conclusion from Destiny's fear that Petitioner intended to terrorize Amy and Dustin. See A.R. 462 ("Intent may be shown from all the facts and circumstances in the case, including the actions of the Defendant and, if from all of this you are satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt that the Defendant intended to do that which he did or that which was the immediate and necessary consequence of his actions, you may find that intent has been shown.").

The evidence was relevant, not unfairly prejudicial, and, hence admissible. Consequently, the circuit court did not abuse its discretion in finding Destiny's testimony admissible. The circuit court should be affirmed.

## F. The circuit court did not err in admitting the 404(b) evidence and any error in the process of its admission was harmless.

The State filed a Motion to admit 404(b) evidence. A.R. 547. Specifically, it sought to use the evidence to show intent and to rebut Petitioner's defense that his actions were the result of an adverse reaction to medication he was taking. A.R. 547. Specifically, the State's Motion sought the following:

Amy Rose had been in an intimate relationship with the defendant. When Defendant became abusive and controlling, Amy attempted to end the relationship and Defendant's abuse heightened. Days before the incidents giving rise to the indictment, the Rose family's property was vandalized repeatedly. Frank Rose and Destiny Rose will testify to Defendant's volatile and violent nature over the course of their relationship with him. Shane Williby and Destiny Rose will testify to Defendant's repeated threats to kill Amy Rose and the Rose family.

A.R. 547. At a pretrial hearing on September 10, 2018, the circuit court asked the State to have its witnesses available for another pretrial conference so it could take evidence. A.R. 27. At another pretrial hearing, the circuit court and the parties discussed some evidence, but the circuit court did not take evidence. A.R. 48-50. The circuit court ruled the following was admissible Rule 404(b) evidence: "any threats or interactions with the named victims are admissible, as well as the phone calls, and the road rage incident." A.R. 565. At trial, Petitioner declined the circuit court's offer of a "limine instruction with regard to the 404(b) evidence[.]" A.R. 302. As to the failure to take evidence, the circuit court ruled in response to Petitioner's motion for a new trial that it was harmless because he had heard the testimony at trial and, therefore, would have ruled the evidence admissible had he heard from the witnesses pretrial. A.R. 67-68. Petitioner challenges the circuit court's rulings on appeal. The circuit court should be affirmed.

West Virginia Rule of Evidence 404(b) provides, in pertinent part:

- (1) Prohibited Uses. Evidence of a crime, wrong, or other act is not admissible to prove a person's character in order to show that on a particular occasion the person acted in accordance with the character.
- (2) Permitted Uses.... This evidence may be admissible for another purpose, such as proving motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, absence of mistake, or lack of accident.

"This Court reviews a lower court's determination regarding the introduction of Rule 404(b) other crimes evidence under an abuse of discretion standard." *State v. Hager*, 204 W. Va. 28, 36, 511 S.E.2d 139, 147 (1998). "We have emphasized that a circuit court abuses its discretion in admitting Rule 404(b) evidence only where the court acts in an 'arbitrary and irrational' manner. *Id.*, 511 S.E.2d at 147. "W. Va. R. Evid. 404(b) is an 'inclusive rule' in which all relevant evidence involving other crimes or acts is admitted at trial unless the sole purpose for the admission is to

show criminal disposition." State v. Edward Charles L., 183 W. Va. 641, 647, 398 S.E.2d 123, 129 (1990).

In Syllabus Point 2 of State v. McGinnis, 193 W. Va. 147, 455 S.E.2d 516 (1994), this Court held:

Where an offer of evidence is made under Rule 404(b) of the West Virginia Rules of Evidence, the trial court, pursuant to Rule 104(a) of the West Virginia Rules of Evidence, is to determine its admissibility. Before admitting the evidence, the trial court should conduct an in camera hearing as stated in State v. Dolin, 176 W.Va. 688, 347 S.E.2d 208 (1986). After hearing the evidence and arguments of counsel, the trial court must be satisfied by a preponderance of the evidence that the acts or conduct occurred and that the defendant committed the acts. If the trial court does not find by a preponderance of the evidence that the acts or conduct was committed or that the defendant was the actor, the evidence should be excluded under Rule 404(b). If a sufficient showing has been made, the trial court must then determine the relevancy of the evidence under Rules 401 and 402 of the West Virginia Rules of Evidence and conduct the balancing required under Rule 403 of the West Virginia Rules of Evidence. If the trial court is then satisfied that the Rule 404(b) evidence is admissible, it should instruct the jury on the limited purpose for which such evidence has been admitted. A limiting instruction should be given at the time the evidence is offered, and we recommend that it be repeated in the trial court's general charge to the jury at the conclusion of the evidence.

McGinnis gives Petitioner no solace as it provides no grounds to reverse Petitioner's convictions.

First, as to the lack of an evidentiary hearing and the Rule 401-403 balancing test, this Court has held that the harmless error doctrine applies to Rule 404(b) violations. See, e.g., State v. Bowling, 232 W. Va. 529, 550, 753 S.E.2d 27, 48 (2013) (applying harmless error to Rule 404(b) violations); State v. Meadows, No. 14-0952, 2015 WL 6181490, at \*3 (W. Va. Oct. 20, 2015) (memorandum decision) (applying harmless error to admission of Rule 404(b) evidence); State v. Greer, No. 13-1259, 2014 WL 6607465, at \*3 (W. Va. Nov. 21, 2014) (memorandum decision). In the instant case, the circuit court heard the State's 404(b) witnesses testify at trial and concluded

that, if presented pretrial, it would have found the testimony admissible. In light of this finding, any error in admitting the evidence was harmless.

Second, as to the lack of a limiting instruction, Petitioner's counsel declined such an instruction when asked about it by the circuit court. A.R. 302. See, e.g., United States v. Tejeda, 974 F.2d 210, 215 (1st Cir. 1992) ("at most the admission of the Fernandez testimony was harmless nonconstitutional error, as Tejeda declined a limiting instruction."). Cf. State v. Ferrell, 184 W. Va. 123, 131, 399 S.E.2d 834, 842 (1990) ("However, Mr. Ferrell did not request such a limiting instruction, perhaps for reasons of trial tactics and strategy, so there was no error in the court's not giving one."). It does not appear that Petitioner sought such a limiting instruction during the circuit court's charge to the jury.

Finally, the evidence against Petitioner was overwhelming even in the absence of the 404(b) evidence. State v. White, No. 14-0918, 2015 WL 7628721, at \*5 (W. Va. Nov. 20, 2015) (memorandum decision) ("... even if the circuit court had erred in admitting the Rule 404(b) evidence, the error was harmless given that the State provided the jury with ample and overwhelming evidence of petitioner's guilt beyond [the 404(b) evidence]"). The testimony of Destiny and Dustin, along with that of Frank and Lieutenant Wood and Sergeant Rose amply and fully--indeed, overwhelmingly--supported the case against Petitioner, even without the 404(b) evidence. Any error by the circuit court was at best harmless and Petitioner's convictions should be affirmed.

# G. The admission of the vandalism evidence was not error or, at best, constituted harmless error.

At trial, Destiny testified her family had trouble with slashed tires. A.R. 215-216. She also testified the transmission fluid in her truck was drained out. A.R. 216. When the State asked if the Rose family had any pets poisoned, she responded, yes that the family had dogs poisoned, to which

the Petitioner only then objected on relevancy grounds. A.R. 216. The circuit court overruled the objection. A.R. 216. Destiny testified the family had two dogs poisoned. A.R. 216. The State then elicited testimony from Destiny that she did not know that Petitioner did that, but that once Petitioner was arrested the incidents of tire slashing and pet poisoning stopped. A.R. 216.<sup>5</sup> During cross-examination, Petitioner's counsel got Destiny to confirm that she had no evidence Petitioner was involved with either the tire slashing or pet poisoning. A.R. 227.

The next morning, Petitioner expressed further objection to testimony relating to the vandalism. A.R. 309. The circuit court responded:

THE COURT: Well, it seemed to me that once the State got into that, it went on for a while before there was an objection made and that's – to be quite honest, that's why I let them finish that. Because it didn't appear there was an objection made until, like I said, stuff started coming out. I think that it was adequately handled in cross-examination with regards to the fact that there was really no proof of those – of that action. I – to the extent there was any error, I think it was harmless error in light of the other facts and circumstances.

A.R. 309.

The admission of evidence is reviewed only for abuse of discretion. "With respect to the admission of evidence, this Court has held that "[t]he action of a trial court in admitting or excluding evidence in the exercise of its discretion will not be disturbed by the appellate court unless it appears that such action amounts to an abuse of discretion." Syllabus point 10, State v. Huffman, 141 W.Va. 55, 87 S.E.2d 541 (1955), overruled on other grounds, State ex rel. R.L. v. Bedell, 192 W.Va. 435, 452 S.E.2d 893 (1994). Syl. Pt. 1, State v. Calloway, 207 W.Va. 43, 528 S.E.2d 490 (1999)." State v. Lobb, No. 14-0198, 2015 WL 135036, at \*2 (W. Va. Jan. 9, 2015) (memorandum decision). The decision of the circuit court should be affirmed.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Destiny also testified the Rose family had cameras installed temporarily and the Petitioner was aware of them and that after that Petitioner never showed up. A.R. 216.

First, Petitioner's brief contains no citation to authority other than perfunctory citation to Rule 404(b). Pet'r Br. at 33-34. As noted above, this is a sufficient ground for this Court to decline to address this claim at all.

Second, Petitioner in his brief raises Rule 404(b) and prejudice arguments. As neither argument was timely presented at trial, neither are preserved for appellate review. Petitioner's contemporaneous objection at trial was solely on relevancy grounds. A.R. 216 ("MR. BALL: Objection, Your Honor. I don't know what the relevancy is to this.").

It is well established that where the objection to the admission of testimony is based upon some specified ground, the objection is then limited to that precise ground and error cannot be predicated upon the overruling of the objection, and the admission of the testimony on some other ground, since specifying a certain ground of objection is considered a waiver of other grounds not specified.

State v. DeGraw, 196 W.Va. 261, 272, 470 S.E.2d 215, 226 (1996):

Petitioner's attempt on appeal to argue Rule 404(b) and prejudice, Pet'r Br. at 33-34, is not permissible as the relevance objection raised at trial constituted a waiver of all grounds not otherwise raised—including Rule 404(b) and prejudice. *See, e.g., United States v. Mejia*, 909 F.2d 242, 246 (7th Cir. 1990) ("A general objection to 'relevance,' the objection Mejia made at trial, is not sufficient to preserve an objection under Rules 404(b) or 403."); *United States v. Sandini*, 803 F.2d 123, 126–127 (3d Cir.1986) (determining that timely relevance objection failed to preserve appellate review of untimely objections under Rules 403 and 404(b)); *State v. Price*, No. 1 CA-CR 06-0650, 2008 WL 3855852, at \*2 (Ariz. Ct. App. Mar. 18, 2008) (finding a "relevance objection did not preserve any other objection, such as improper character or propensity evidence under Rules 404(a)(1) or 404(b), and/or it was unduly prejudicial under Rule 403.").

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